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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
IN RE SONY PS3 “OTHER OS” CASE NO. CV-10-1811-RS
LITIGATION
CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiffs Anthony Ventura, Jonathan Hub&ntal Herz, Jason Baker, and Elton Stovell

on behalf of themselves and all othersikiny situated, based on personal knowledge, the
investigation of their counsel, and on inf@tion and belief, allege the following against

Defendant Sony Computer tentainment America LLC:
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NATURE OF ACTION

1. Defendant Sony Computer Entertainma@nterica LLC, formerly Sony Computer
Entertainment America, Inc. (“Defendant” t8CEA”), is one of the world’s leading
manufacturers of advanced video gaming and computer entegtaisgstems. Defendant’s Sorj
PlayStation® 3 video game console (hereinatézrred to as the “PS3”) has been purchased k
approximately 35.7 million consumers across the globe.

2. Since it first introduced the PS3 in 2006, Defendant has engaged in an extens
advertising campaign in an effort to beat comnpetitors in the game console and video game

markets. Defendant has advertised, promoted, eteatkwarranted, and sold the PS3 as more

just a video game console. Itegjfically advertised the PS3'’s ther OS” feature as an essential

and important characteristic, which enabled usemsstall Linux or other operating systems on
PS3 and use the PS3 as a personal computernd2efiealso specificallgdvertised the unified
online gaming service called the PlayStatiotvidek (“PSN”). The PSN enables online gaming
access to the PlayStation StorgyStation Home and other services. Defendant has consistg
used the PS3'’s ability to serve as a personapaden, in addition to itether advanced features
such as the PSN and the capability of playingBjdiscs, to market the PS3 and distinguish i
from its competitors, such as Magoft's X-box 360 and Nintendo’s Wii.

3. The ability to run other operating systems, such as Linux, allowed PS3 users
operate the PS3 not simply as a gaming consolelboitas a personal cpoter. For example, if
PS3 users install other operating systems like Lithey have the ability torowse the Internet,
install media unsupported by the PS3’s native atjpgg system, and make their own computer

programs.
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4. On April 1, 2010, Defendant released a Firmware version 3.21 software update

(hereinafter referred to as thdpdate 3.21") for the PS3, intentidhadisabling the entire “Other

OS” feature that enabled the PS3 to be opemdeaipersonal computer. Defendant offered this

firmware update for purported “security reasonBgfendant could havekan other less intrusive

or extreme measures, other than disabling@ibeer OS” feature, to address its purported

“security” concerns. Defendant'emoval of the “Other OS” feateireviscerated one of the PS3’

primary purposes,e,, its use as a personal computer, and constitutes breaches of Defendanit

express and implied warranties, conversion, aathttons of California and federal consumer
protection laws as alleged herein.
5. Defendant’s decision to implemenptlate 3.21 placed Plaintiffs and Class

members in an untenable position. PS3 ownéis did not install Update 3.21 could no longer

access many of the important PS3 features imuduithe PSN, play games online, access onling

features, or play PS3 games amd3lu-ray discs that requiregdate 3.21. On the other hand, P
owners who did install Update 3.Rist all access to éh“Other OS” featurand were effectively
locked out from accessing a substantial portion eftiemory on their PS3’s internal hard drive
as well as information and data that usessalted on that portion of the hard drive.

6. Plaintiffs and other purchasers paid for #ukvertised features of the PS3, includi
the “Other OS” feature, butpdiate 3.21 prevents such purarasfrom using all of these

advertised features.

7. Defendant intentionally accessed PS3 systand intentionally transmitted Update

3.21 with the knowledge and intent of dibad its advertised “Other OS” feature.
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8. Plaintiffs paid for PS3 features afuhctions that Defedant has rendered
inoperable as a result of Update 3.21. Plaintifissheuffered injury in fact and have lost money
and property as a directsdt of Defendant’s acts.

9. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf ofn@tionwide class of all similarly situated
individuals and entitieasho purchased any new PS3 model aomnhg the “Other OS” feature.
Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the psgzbClass, hereby seek damages and other rel
the Court deems just.

PARTIES

10.  Plaintiff ANTHONY VENTURA is a citizen of California and resides in Santa
Clara, California. Mr. Ventura purchased é&8R$or around July 2007 for $499.00 plus tax. Hg
uses the PS3 for personal, family and housetwedd. Before purchasing the PS3, Mr. Ventura]
performed extensive researchtbe Internet. Among other things, Mr. Ventura reviewed and
relied on the statements on Defendant’s website neglrd to the PS3’'s “Other OS” feature, as
well as the PS3’s other advertised features such as the abditgess the PSN, play video gam
watch movies, and listen to music, among othergs. Defendant’s pgesentations about the
PS3'’s features, including the “Other OS” featyrlayed a substantial factor in influencing
Plaintiff's decision to purchase a PS3 over the@xB60 and Wii. Prior to the release of Update
3.21, Mr. Ventura not only used his PS3 to gaynes, watch Blu-ray discs and access the PS
but he also extensively used his PS3 as a cangatluding browsing the Internet, using the B
ray data drive, and playing Linux-specific games.

11. Mr. Ventura has not installed Update 3.21tlsat he can continue to use the “Oth

OS” functions. As a result, he is no longer dblelay online games, access the PSN, or play |1
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games or Blu-ray discs. As a result of Defengaattions, Mr. Ventura has suffered injury in fact

and has lost money and property.

12. Plaintiff JONATHAN HUBER isa citizen of Tennessee and resides in Knoxville

Tennessee. Mr. Huber purchased a PS3 @mnaamd December 26, 2006 for $599.00 plus tax.
uses the PS3 for personal, family and houskbsés. Before purchasing the PS3, Mr. Huber
performed extensive research on the differehetseen PS3 and Xbox 360. Among other thin
Mr. Huber reviewed and relied on Defendant’sestegnts with regard to the PS3’s “Other OS”
feature, as well as the PS3’s other advertisedifeaisuch as the ability to access the PSN, pla]
video games, watch movies, and listen to musioong other things. Defendant’s representatid
about the PS3’s features, including the “OtB&” feature, played a substantial factor in
influencing Plaintiff's decision tpurchase a PS3 over the Xbox 3@d &Vii. Prior to the release
of Update 3.21, Mr. Huber not only used his R&play games, watch Blu-ray discs and acces
the PSN, but he also extensivelsed his PS3 as a computer, utthg by browsing th Internet on|
his main television.

13.  Mr. Huber downloaded and installed thpdate 3.21 as he was not able to play
games online or otherwise access PSN unless hmdidhis installation, as was Defendant’s
intention, caused him to be unable to acces$@ther OS” feature and the Linux operating
system he had installed. As au# of Defendant’s actions, Mr.utber has suffered injury in fact
and has lost money and property.

14.  Plaintiff ANTAL HERZ is a citizen ofCalifornia and resides in San Francisco,
California. Mr. Herz purchased a PS3 ondbetr 11, 2008 for $399 plus tax. He uses the PS3
personal, family and household uses. Beforehmsing the PS3, Mr. Herz performed extensiv{

research on the Internet. Among other things, érz reviewed and relied on the statements
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Defendant’s website with regard to the PS3'$H& OS” feature, as well as the PS3’s other
advertised features such as the ability to ss€tiee PSN, play video games, watch movies, and
listen to music, among other things. Defentiargpresentations abotite PS3’s features,
including the “Other OS” feature, played a subsghfactor in influencig Plaintiff's decision to
purchase a PS3 over the Xbox 360 and Wii. Prithéaelease of UpdaB21, Mr. Herz not only

used his PS3 to play games, watch Blu-raysdastd access the PSN, but he also extensively U

sed

his PS3 as a computer, including to browse thermet, run word processor software, spreadsheet

software, email software, other productivagplications, and make his own programs.

15.  Mr. Herz downloaded and installed thedate 3.21 as he was not able to play
games online or otherwise access PSN unless tsodid@his installation, as was Defendant’s
intention, caused him to be unable to access@iher OS” feature and the Linux operating
system he had installed. As su# of Defendant’s actions, Mr. IHehas suffered injury in fact
and lost money and property.

16.  Plaintiff JASON BAKER is a citizen of Nth Dakota and resides in Grand Forks
North Dakota. Mr. Baker purchased a RIs8weekend of March 15-16, 2007 for $599.99 plus
tax. He uses the PS3 for personal, family bodsehold uses. Before purchasing the PS3, Mr.
Baker performed extensive resgaon the Internet. Among othigings, Mr. Baker reviewed an(
relied on the statements on Defendant’s website igijard to the PS3’s “Other OS” feature, as
well as the PS3’s other advertised features such as the abditgess the PSN, play video gam
watch movies, and listen to music, among othemgs. Defendant’s pgesentations about the
PS3'’s features, including the “Other OS” featyrlayed a substantial factor in influencing

Plaintiff's decision to purchase a PS3 over the@xB60 and Wii. Prior to the release of Update
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3.21, Mr. Baker not only used his PS3 to play games, watch Blu-ray discs and access the H
he also extensively used his PS3 asmputer, including browsing the Internet.

17.  Mr. Baker has not installed Update 3.21 sat the can continue to use the Other
functions. As a result, he is no longer ablelty online games, access the PSN, play new gaf
or Blu-ray discs that require Update 3.21, norltamccess any of the funds that he has depos
into his PSN wallet, among other things. aeesult of Defendant’s actions, Mr. Baker has
suffered injury in fact and lost money and property.

18.  Plaintiff ELTON STOVELL is acitizen of California and resides in Springs Vallg
California. Mr. Stovell purcased a PS3 on November 24, 2007 for $499 plus tax. He used t}
PS3 for personal, family and household usedogurchasing the PS3, Mr. Stovell performeg
extensive research oretlnternet. Among other things, Mstovell reviewed and relied on the
statements on Defendant’s website with regattied”S3’s “Other OS” feature, as well as the
PS3's other advertised features such as thigyab access the PSN, play video games, watch
movies, and listen to music, among other thingsfendant’s represenians about the PS3’s
features, including the “Other O®ature, played a substantiattor in influencing Plaintiff’s
decision to purchase a PS3 over the Xbox 360 aind RYior to the release of Update 3.21, Mr.
Stovell used his PS3 to play games, watchjudiscs and access the PSN. While Mr. Stove
did not use the “Other OS” feature at the tioi¢he release of Update 3.21, he bought it for thg
purpose of doing so.

19.  Mr. Stovell downloaded and installed thedate 3.21 as he was not able to play
games online or otherwise access PSN unless hedidhis installation, as was Defendant’s
intention, caused him to be unable to access theet@I$” feature. As a result of Defendant’s

actions, Mr. Stovell has suffered injuryfact and lost money and property.
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20. Defendant Sony Computer Entertainrn@merica, LLC is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Sony Computer Entertainmeént,. Defendant designs, markets, and sells
PlayStation video game consotésoughout the United States, inding the PS3 at issue here.
Defendant is a Delaware entity with its pripai place of business in Foster City, California.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

21.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the Class

Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because at least one Class member is of diverse

citizenship from the Defendant; there are mbign 100 Class members nationwide; and the

aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,0008.court has personal jurisdiction over the

parties because Defendant condsctigstantial business in tt#sate, has had systematic and
continuous contacts with this State, and has agemnisepresentatives that can be found in this
State.

22.  Venue is proper in this District under PBS.C. § 1391(a) because a substantial
of the events or omissions giving rise to theraabccurred within this District, Defendant has
caused harm to Class members residing withigDistrict, and Dindant maintains its
headquarters in this District.

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

23.  Pursuant to Local Rules 3€)(and 3-5(b), this actiorhsuld be assigned to the S3
Francisco Division of California because Dadant resides in the County of San Mateo.

CHOICE OF LAW

24.  California law governs the state law claiasserted herein by Plaintiffs and the
Class Members.

25.  Upon information and belief, SCEA’s acts and omissions alleged herein were
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orchestrated and implemented at Defent’'s headquarters in California.

26. California has a substantial interesprotecting the riglstand interests of
California and other U.S. residents against \ydming by a company based business in Califor
which interest is greater théimat of any other State.

27.  Application of California law with respetd Plaintiffs’ and the Class Members’
claims is neither arbitrary nor fundamentally ainbecause California hagnificant contacts ang
a significant aggregation of contathiait give California a substantial interest in the claims of tf
Plaintiffs and the Nationwide Class.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

SCEA and PS3 Background
28. Defendant, Sony Computer Entertainment America LLC, was founded in 1994
the North American division of Sony Computer Etagnment Inc. (“SCEI”) and according to its
website, is responsible for the “continued growththef PlayStation® market in the United State
and Canada.”
29. In 1995, the original PlayStation game amleswas introduced in the United Statg
More than 100,000 units were sold during its debut weekend and more than one million uni
sold within the first six months.
30. On November 17, 2006, Defendant introduttesl PS3, touting it as “the most

advanced computer system that servesm@atiorm to enjoy next generation computer

entertainment.” Defendant adviedd, marketed, and sold PS3 syss$ as including a built-in Blur
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ray disc player, the ability tgo online to access the PSN and @gginst other players, and the
ability to install other operating systerhs.

31. The manufacturer’s suggested refaite for the PS3 has ranged from
approximately $300 to $600, considerably higher than many of its competitors. Defendant
reportedly sold approximately 23 mdh PS3 systems in the United States.

32.  The video game console and game industry is a multi-billion dollar market. G4
console manufacturers such as Defendant fiematypete with one another to market their gan|
consoles with the latest features to consumeds@ bring lucrative games to the market. The K
competes with other video game consoles sischlicrosoft's Xbox 36@nd the Nintendo Wii.
The ability to install other operating systemmsinique to the PS8mong other video game
consoles.

33. Defendant periodically releases softwapelates to the PS3, called “firmware.” (
Defendant’s website, it represetitsit system software updatadd new features “so you don't
have to worry about your PlayStation®3 systesecoming outdated or missing out on cool new
features.”

SCEA Markets PS3 and Its “Install Other OS” Feature

34.  From the time Defendant introducttte PS3 in November 2006 through 2010, it
has consistently and aggressivativertised the PS3 as the madvanced computer entertainmg
system in the industry. Indeed, Defendant advertised, promoted, marketed, warranted, and

PS3 as more than just a video game condéén Kutaragi, former President of SCEI, stated

1 Open Platform for PLAYSTATION®, http://www.playstation.com/ps3-
openplatform/index.html
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before the PS3’s release, “Speaking about the W&8gver said we will release a game conso
It [the PS3] is radically differg from the previous PlayStati. It is clearly a computef.”

35. Inremarks made to Japanese websitgréss Watch, Ken Kutaragi has commen
in more detail on the concept that the PlaySta@ie®a computer, rather than a game console.
Kutaragi pointedly commented, “We don’t say @igame console (*laugh*) - PlayStation 3 is
clearly a computer, unlike the PlayStations [reldhse far.” He went on to outline a scenario
where many parts of the PS3 were upgradablesh more like a PC, noting, “[s]ince PS3 is a
computer, there are no ‘models’ babnfigurations.” The SonfEO gave another example in
the interview: “As PS3 is a comaut. . . it also wants to evolva.”

36.  An important feature of the PS3 was‘@®pen Platform” or “Install Other OS”
feature. As Defendant’s website provideghre is more to the PLAYSTATION®3 (PS3™)
computer entertainment system than you may lagemed. In addition to playing games,

watching movies, listening to music, and viegvphotos, you can use the PS3™ system to run

Linux operating system. By installing the Linogerating system, you can use the PS3™ syste

not only as an entry-level perséreamputer with hundreds of falar applications for home and
office use, but also as a complete develeptienvironment for the Cell Broadband Engine™
(Cell/B.E.)."

37.  The “Other OS” feature allowed Plaintié®d other PS3 users to run a number g
web browsers, which provide more functionalitariithe one browser Defendant has in its nati

PS3 operating system. For example, users astdrun word processor software, spreadshee

2 http://playstationlifetyle.net/2010/04/17/sony-refas-ps3-linux-reimbursment/
? http://www.gamasutra.com/pHpn/news_index.php?story=9642
* http://www.playstation.am/ps3-openplatform/index.html
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software, and email software on other operatirggesys, and media programs. The “Other OS]
feature also allowed Cell programming ane @peration of supercomputer cluster§he “Other
OS” feature essentially allowedars to operate the PS3 like amquuter rather than simply a
gaming console.

38. Defendant touted this as a major feataf the PS3. In June 2006, Ken Kutaragi,
Sony’s CEO, stated that “[the PS3] is radicallffedent from the previouRlayStation. Itis
clearly a computer. Indeed, with a game caomspbu need to take out any unnecessary eleme
inside the console in order to decrease its costThis will of course apply to the PS3 as wéll.”

He also stated that while “"[lJ@ering costs is important but maraportant is its capacity to

evolve.” Id. “Everything has been planned and designed so it will become a computer. The

previous PlayStation had a mematgt as its unique terface. In contrasthe PS3 features PC
standard interfaces. Because they standard, they are opend

39. In February 2007, Phil Harrison, the Presitdof Sony Computer Entertainment
Worldwide Studios at the time, stated in an interview Wgtvsweek videogame journalist, N'Gali
Croal, that “[o]ne of the most powerful thingbout the PS3 is then$tall Other OS’ option”

40. The ability to install other operating sgsts was a built-in component of the core

functionality of the PS3 system and usersenable to use thigature out of the box.

>Cell is a microprocessor which facilitates softwdeselopment. The PS3 is the most accessi
Cell platform.

®Kutaragi Details PS3 ‘Computer’ Claim, http://www.edge-online.com/news/kutaragi-details
computer-claim

20 Questions With Phil Harrison At DICEttp://kotaku.com/235049/20-questions-with-phil-
harrison-at-dice; DICE 200rhil Harrison Keynote Pt. 4,
http://www.gametrailers.cofmdeo/dice-2007-sony/17006.
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41. Defendant’s affirmative representaticadsout the PS3’s features, including the

“Other OS” function, triggered Defendigs duty to disclose or adededy disclose that it reserved

the right to disable or remove\ertised functions. At the point eéle, however, Defendant faile|
to disclose, and/or adequately dise, to Plaintiffs or Class membéhat it reserved the right to
remove an advertised, built-in feature, like #tdity to run other operating systems through a
remote firmware update. Defemds right to remove the “Inall Other OS” feature is not
specifically disclosed in Defendant’s Terms of\ee or System Software License Agreement.

42.  The “Install Other OS” feature was anportant and material tool that many
consumers valued when purchasmBS3. It gave consumers all of the functions of a persong
computer, including web browsingpsage, video and media entertainment, and word process
capabilities.

43. Defendant’s promises, representatiomgtranties and adviesing regarding the
various features available with the PS3, includhmg“Other OS”, were material to consumers if
deciding to purchase the PS3. eTfalsity of SCEA’s promises, representations, warranties, an
advertising were material to Plaintiffs anda€ members and have injured Plaintiffs and the
Class.

44.  Defendant knew that the ability to run atloperating systems was considered to
important and material to users. Oraoound August 18, 2009, Defendamnounced the releasq
of the PS3 “slim” model available on SeptembeP009. The PS3 slim ditbt include the ability
to install other operating systems. Howewfendant’s PS3-Linux maintainer, Geoffrey Leva

assured users via email that “SCE [Sony Compiteertainment] is anmitted to continue the
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support for previously sold models that have‘thstall Other OS’ featurand that this feature
will not be disabled in future firmware releasés.”
SCEA Consistently Advertises and Pomotes the PS3’s Unique Attributes

45.  Since introducing the PS3 in Noveert2006, Defendant (through its agents,
employees, subsidiaries, parentaister companies and other esg@ntatives acting on its beha
has made numerous public statements promotmQther OS” feature asell as the PS3’s othe
unique attributes:

. PS3 Open Platform, 2006-2010n addition to playinggames, watching movies,
listening to music, and viewinghotos, you can use the PS3™ systemun the Linux operating
system. By installing the Linux operating systg/mmu can use the PS3™ system not only as al
entry-level personal computer wittundreds of familiar applications for home and office use, |
also as a complete development environnf@nthe Cell Broadband Engine™ (Cell/B.E.)."
http://www.playstation.coms3-openplatform/index.html

. PS3 Manual, 2006-2010: "Install other systswftware on the hard disk. For
information on types of compatible system w@ite and obtaining the installer, visit Open
Platform for PlayStation®3."
http://manuals.playstation.net/docurtide/ps3/current/settings/osinstall

. PS3 Knowledge Center, 2006-2010: "ThayStation 3 provides an option for

third-party system software to be installedtib@ PS3™ system instead of the system software

8 Levand’s email, as posted by a user offieRdant’s blog: Posting of jayyy91, to
http://blog.us.playstation.co210/03/28/ps3-firmware-v3-21-upgédcomment-page-33/ (March
29, 2010, 2:50 pm).
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provided by Sony Computer Entertainment Inc. Shald-party system softwa is referred to as

an 'Other OS'." http://us.playstation.com/support/answer/index.htm?a_id=469

. On the PS3's product packaging, Defenddst touted the PS3’s features through

affirmative representations and symbols. Defehdepresented that the PS3 had a built-in Blut

ray Disk drive for high-definition games andemainment, and broadband connectivity with
access to the PSN, among other things.

. Ken Kutaragi, June 2006: “Speaking abthé PS3, we never said we will releasq
game console. It is radicallyftérent from the previous PlayStati. It is cleay a computer.”
http://www.edge-online.com/news/lautgi-details-ps3-computer-claim

. Phil Harrison, President &ony Computer Entertairent Worldwide Studios 2005

2008, May 2006: “We believe that the PS3 willthe place where our users play games, watch

films, browse the Web, and use other computer functions. The PlayStation 3 is a computer,.

do not need the PC.”
http://www.gamasutra.com/view/neWws47/Harrison_We_Do_Not Need The PC.php

. Phil Harrison, February 2007: “One of thst powerful things about the PS3 is
the 'Install Other OS' option.” http://kotakar/235049/20-questions-witbhil-harrison-at-dice

J PS3 Linux Distributor's Starter Kit, 2006-2003he Linux Distributor's Starter Kit
provides information, binary and source codekitmx Distribution developers who wants to
make their distro support PS3.” http://wvikernel.org/pub/linux/kernel/people/geoff/cell/ps3-
linux-docs/ps3-linux-docs-08.06.09

. Izumi Kawanishi, head of Sony's terk System Development Section, May
2006: “Because we have plans for having Linwboard [the PS3], we also recognize Linux
programming activities . . . Other than game stutiezkto official developelicenses, we'd like to
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see various individuals participatecontent creation for the PS3.”

http://www.gamasutra.com/phprinews_index.php?story=9290

. Geoffrey Levand, Principal Software@ineer at Sony Corporation, August 2009:

"Please be assured that SCE is committed toruomtine support for previously sold models thg
have the ‘Install Other OS’ feature and that this feature wilbeadisabled in future firmware
releases.” Mailing list tS3 customers using Linux.

. Even when it decided to remove the “@tl©S” functionality from the new Slim
PS3, Defendant reiterated its commitment to supmpthe “Other OS” function in existing PS3
models. In an interview withrstechnica.com in August, 2009, John Koller, SCEA'’s director (¢
hardware marketing, stated that “[i]f anyone wants to use previous models and change the
can do so.”

46.  Unlike an Xbox or Wii, the PS3 offered the “Other OS” feature as well as the
unique PS3 features (such as the ability to Blayray discs and accesstRlayStation Network).
As aresult, the PS3 was substantially moggeasive than these other gaming consoles.

The Other OS Function Is A Valuable PS3 Feature.

47.  When running the Linux software systetime PS3 can serve as a fully functional
home computer, loaded with more than 1,000iegfons. But instead of having a suite of
applications, the computer offers userdaice of multiple mail clients, word processing
programs, spreadsheets, office applicajonusic and video players and games.

48.  As aresult, the “Other OS” function was @xtrely valuable to PS3 purchasers.
Kai Staats, CEO of Terra Soft, a third party tthaveloped Linux applicains for the PS3, stated,

“[t]he PlayStation 3 places a supercompurtethe home . . . Yellow Dog Linux provides a

complete Linux OS for the PlayStation 3 resultingivery powerful computing platform. We af
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thrilled to be working with RapidMind to makkis platform more accessible for professional
developers and hobbyists alike . . . With our opegasystem, the Playstation could very easily

your home CD player, DVD player, MP3 player drmime computer, as well as a great game b

be

.. This is not an application-limited appliancgis is a full-blown computer. There is no issue| of

‘can it do this or that?' It can do everything.”

49.  Moreover, the ability to run Linux onéPS3 provides users with an excellent
platform to develop applications for the PS&sra jumping off point for deployments to other
products, including those froiBM, Sony, or Mercury.

50. Perhaps more important, the ability t&udsnux on a PS3 saves consumers mon
Consumers who load a Linux operating systemalmeed to buy many additional electronic
devices or applications.

51. Many consumers utilized the “Other OS” feature in order to use their PS3s as
computers, including browsing the Internet, gdine Blu-ray data drive, and playing Linux-
specific games.

Defendant Disables the “Install Otler OS” Feature And Other PS3 Functions

52. On or around March 28, 2010, Patrick Seb@efendant’s Senior Director of

Corporate Communications and Social Mediaounced on Defendant’s blog that Update 3.2

would be released on April 1, 2010 and its installawould disable the fistall Other OS” feature

A3

that was available on the PS3 systems priordathirent slimmer models, launched in September

20009.

53.  Onor about April 1, 2010, Defendant releddJpdate 3.21. Defendant stated that

Update 3.21 would disable the “Int@ther OS” feature. PS3 awers were not “required” to

install Update 3.21, but were essalty forced to do so or theyould risk losing other important
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features of the PS3. For example, if a uséeddo download Update 3.21, he or she would los
the following features: (1) the ability to signtmthe PSN; (2) the ability to use online features
that require a user to sign inttte PSN, such as chat; (3) the i&pilo use the online features of
PS3 format software; (4) playback of new PSfvgare or Blu-ray discghat require Update 3.21
or later; (5) playback of copyig-protected videos that are stdron a media server; (6) use of
new features and improvements that available on PS3 Update 3.21 or |&ter.

54.  Since the ability to plalu-ray discs and play games online through the PSN W
features unique to the PS3 console and impottansers, installing Update 3.21 was not option
for users wishing to retain those features. Hvefendant’s console games are increasingly re
on online updates, online content, and onling.plRefendant did not present PS3 users with a
choice. Rather, users would either lose thatald use other operating systems, an advertised
and important feature if theystalled Update 3.21, or they woutibe the ability to access onling
Blu-ray, and gaming features if they did not ifidtgpdate 3.21. In other words, installing Upda
3.21 renders the PS3 inoperable for its use asnpuater; on the other hanithe failure to install
Update 3.21 renders a users’ PS3 inoperabledanténded purpose as a gaming and Blu-ray ¢
console.

55.  Moreover, when consumers send a defedB$3 console to Defendant for repair

Defendant’s repair service automatlyg installs Update 3.21. As Bendant states on its websitg:

Q: “l was using Linux and now my PS3 needv®e. Can | use Linux after it comes ba
from repair?

A: No, we repair the PS3 system with the laggsttem software. Users will not be able |
use Linux after the repair.”

® http://us.playstation.com/support/sgsupdates/ps3/ps3_321_updatel/index.htm
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http://us.playstation.com/supp@nswer/index.htm?a_id=469
Additional Injuries Caused By the Release of Update 3.21
56. Users that chose to install Update 3.2 kny data stored in the “Other OS”
partition if they do not back up that data on &eotmedium. Defendant did not adequately not

its customers that all such data wouldds once they installed the update.

fy

57. In addition, when Defendant originally sdlie PS3s, the hard drive was partitionjed

such that part of the hard drive was dedicated to the “Other OS” function. When consumer

installed Update 3.21, they not only lost whatevea deas stored in that partition, they lost access

to that portion of the hard drive originally pauitied for the “Other OS” function. In other words,

an additional consequence of Defendant’s desabht of the “Other OS” function was to reducd

the hard drive space available on the PS3 for which users had originally paid.

58.  Many users purchased peripheral devicesipalty for use with the “Other OS”

function, such as wirelesgyboards and mice and external hdinges. Such devices are rendeled

superfluous to usersdhinstall Update 3.21.
59.  Users who chose not to install Update 3a&te also damaged in that they lost

access to many attributes of PS3 including their BGfghases other than gaming. For exampl

e,

Defendant offers Qore, an online service that offers a variety of content and news concerning PS3

functions. Users pay $24.99 for annual subscription. However,ars that purchased Qore pri
to the release of Update 3.21 amldo did not install the updateeadenied the benefit of their
annual subscription. Similarly, users who doinetall Update 3.21 lose access to any prepaid

PSN account balances.
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60.  Similarly, many consumers use their PS3viich streaming video from Netflix,

and they often pre-pay for an annual subscriptidawever, those users that do not install Upd

3.21 are no longer able to stream Netflix usirggrtRPS3, and therefore they are damaged in the

amount of their pre-pailletflix subscription.

61. Many users who do not install Upd&&1 purchase new games for their PS3,
unaware that new games cannot be played witth@uupdate. Users only become aware of thg
fact when they open the package and try &y the game. Retailers do not accept returns on
games that are not in their original packagingl #mus users are damaged in the amount they |
for such games.

62. Since Defendant released Update 3.21, thousands of users have written com
on Internet websites and message boards, imgutie message board Defendant maintains on
website, regarding Update 3.21 and its removal of the “Install Other OS” feature. Users cof
that Defendant’s actions are similar to a bad awitch, where users ptiased a product with a
specific feature and later had it taken away. $irppt, PS3 users paidrfa product that includeq
certain features and regardless of whether ithetpll Update 3.21, theyilvlose advertised and
paid-for features and full functionality tieir PS3 consoles. Typical of those numerous
complaints are the following:

| bought a PlayStation 3 for $600 USI@os on November 17, 2006 advertised
as a Computer Entertainment System witleature that allowedonsumers to install
Linux as an operating system. This featuras called Other OS from system menu
which allowed users to use the machine notassa console but also as a computer. On
April 1, 2010 Sony updated the console's firane and removed ith feature and no
longer can the console be used as a coenplihe console whichbought for 600 US
dollars has now the same features as the newer cheaper low end models. . . .l aj

seeking a new firmware which will put back the promised feature that was once
advertised as being part the product or a refurtd.

Yhttp:/fforums.gametrailers.com/threatifware-people-so-pissed-about/1045716?page=4
20
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Hhttp://boardsus.playstation.com/t5/PlayStation-3-Updates/Former-Sony-
supporters/tdp/45468864/paggs@ssionid=5CDBFE6684B1F4FE71318BCE7DOD7352

Yhttp://boardsus.playstation.com/t5/Playt®ta-3-Updates/conchion-about-Other-OS-
removal/td-p/45482145/page/4;jsessionid=COBPSE4DC23A3D2BE40112FC6E8D7 (messdge
36; at 04-05-2010 01:30 PM)

I'll start by saying | have been a loysainy customer and have bought all their
systems at launch since the psl. they have done a few dirty things but it wasn't until
today until my eyes finally opened to seeavhn evil company fulbf liars sony really
is. i mean this isn't the first time sony hasdlito us, but to me this is the same as
theivery. i bought a ps3, waited a week in freezing rain and paid 600 dollars for it under
the impression i would have a system thatld use linux, i've spent YEARS learning
and playing with linux on my ps3, and 8ars later sony steals it back. A FEATURE
THAT THEY ADVERTISED. | feel like I'vebeen stabbed in the back by my best
friend. i was the one who was defending th8 frem all the haters during its first
couple years when it had pretty much no ganhéope sony realizes they have pulled a
benedict arnold and have betrayed the nhmgl of their consumers with this move.
now i have to buy a new ps3 to keep the feature? HA! no more, sony. enough is
enough. I'm contacting the bettausiness bureau today to see what can be done about
this treason. also I'm not updating my systemd i plan on selling it in the very near
future if something isn't dore.

* % %

| don't know how you figure. It absolutegntered my cost benefit analysis
when choosing between PS3 and Xbox360. PB& needed every advantage it could
get at launch and running linux was somethimg others could not claim. Remember,
at the time there was no reason to beliewt Blu Ray was going to be the standard.
The only real advantage the PS3 had over the Xbox was Other OS. Xbox had mors
gamers and more games, still does. Xbox wheady established the market and
many people had friends who were already using it. Both do High def 720p vs 1080p
big deal, regardless image quality has been proven exactly the same time and again 3
all the review sites.Both have online featsir Xbox is paid but the PS3 cost twice as
much for the machine. Xbox had and sliks the advantageitiv developers, see
Carmack’s latest statement on PS3 thprent. PS3 could run Linux, Xbox had no
answer.

It factored into my decision and you'd bhysio think that itdidn't factor into
other people's decision as welis the PS3 had many disadvantages.

nt
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63. Defendant originally informed users thhe release of Update 3.21 — in particular,

the disabling of the “Other OS&éture — was intended to protect thecurity” of users systems.

In emails to PS3 users, Defendant later admittatittte update was released in order to “prote¢t

the intellectual propertgf the content offered on the PS3 system.” This is an admission that
Update 3.21 was released for Defendantiseliieat the expense of its customers.

RULE 9(b) ALLEGATIONS

64. WHO: Defendant made material misreg@ntations and failed to disclose, or
adequately disclose, material facts as allegeélime Except as provided herein, Plaintiffs are
unaware of, and therefore unabladentify, the true names and ideies of those individuals at
SCEA who are responsible for such matiemisrepresentations and omissions.

65. WHAT: Defendant made affirmative materrapresentations théte PS3 could be
used as a computer and that users could install other operating systems such as Linux. D¢
also made affirmative, materigdpresentatives that the PS3 cdoddused to access the PSN, pl3
video games, watch movies, and listen tsimuamong other things. Defendant further

represented that firmware updates were for thipgaes of providing nefeatures. Defendant’s

representations were untrue by virtue of Defeidamplementation of Update 3.21. Defendant

knew and intentionally failed to disclose or adatgly disclose, the material facts as alleged
herein, such as that it reserved the right ttatevially disable or remove the advertised PS3
features, including the “Other OS” featurepiotect its intellectugroperty. Based on
Defendant’s affirmative representations abibgt PS3’s functions and firmware updates,
Defendant had a duty to disclose thaterial information alleged herein.

66. WHEN: Defendant made the affirmatis®aterial misrepresentations and non-

disclosures beginning in Novemi#2006 through sometime around April 2010.
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67. WHERE: Defendant’s affirmative, material misrepresentations and non-discld

were made on the Internet, including on its welsiteww.usplaystation.en, in press releases,

on the product’s packaging, in the PS3 owner'suma$ and in its email communications with P

users, among other places.

68. HOW: Defendant heavily marketélde PS3's features, including the
ability to install other operating systems sashLinux, and the ability to access the PSN, play
video games, watch movies, and listen to musiogng other things. Defendant, however, faile
to disclose or adequately disclose matenfdrmation to Plaintiffs and Class members.

Defendant failed to disclose or adedely disclose in its advertising and marketing that it retair

the unilateral right to disable or remove the P$8igertised functions. Defendant did not make

adequate disclosures sometime around ApriD20hen Plaintiffs and Class members were
already locked into their PS3 purchases.

69. WHY: Defendant made the affirmativmaterial misrepresentations and
omissions for purposes of inducing Plaintiffs &ldss members to purchase the PS3 and its v
games over the game consoles and video games of its competitors.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

70.  Plaintiffs bring this suit aa class action pursuant to R@# of the Federal Rules ¢
Civil Procedure, on behalf of theselves and all other similarly situated persons. The Class i
initially defined as follows:

All persons who purchased, irthe United States and its teitories, a new PS3 with the

Open Platform feature for personal use ad not for resale and continued to own the

PS3 on March 27, 2010.
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71. Excluded from the class are Defendant and its subsidiaries and affiliates, as W
Defendant’s executives, board members, legahsel, and their immediate families. Also
excluded are all governmental entitaasd any judicial officers assighéo hear any aspect of thig
case.

72.  Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend or modify the Class definition with greatel
specificity or further division into subasses or limitation to particular issues.

73. Numerosity The proposed Class is sufficientlymerous, as Defendant has sold
millions of PS3 systems to consumers and required those consumers to download the updg
issue or forego the other advsed features. The members of the Class are so numerous and
dispersed throughout the United States that joinlal members is impracticable. The Class
members can be identified through Defamtsaand/or Class members’ records.

74. Common Questions of Fact and La®@ommon questions ca¢t and law exist as {

all members of the Class and predominate omgromestions affecting sdjeindividual members
of the Class, pursuant to Federalle of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3)Questions of fact and law that]
predominate over any individual issues include:
a. Whether Defendant breached its expmgasranties when it removed the “Install
Other OS” feature;
b. Whether Defendant advertised the PSa asmputer and as having the ability to
install and use other operating syssesuch as Linux, among other things;
c. Whether Defendant had a duty to disclose netéacts, such as that it reserved t
right to disable or remove the PS3’s adiiged features, such as the “Other OS”

feature;

24

CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

vell as

ite at

he




© 00 N o o b~ wWw N P

N N RN NN NN NDDNPRP B P P P P P PP e
© ~N o U0 A W N P O © 0 N O 0 M W N P O

75.
Plaintiffs and the Class bougR83s and sustained damages arising out of the Defendant’s

wrongful conduct as detailed herein. Specificallgimliffs and Class members’ claims arise frg

. Whether Defendant failed to disclose or qutely disclose matailifacts to users,

. Whether Defendant represented that firmevapdates would not disable the “Inst

. Whether Defendant’s conduct violated the Consumers Legal Remedies Act,

. Whether Defendant’s conduct violate@ tGomputer Fraud and Abuse Act, 18

. Whether Plaintiffs and the memberfsthe Class sustained damage and

. The amount of attorneys’ fegsrejudgment interest, amdsts of suit to which the

such as that it reserved the right to disadl remove the PS3’s advertised featurs

such as the “Other OS” feature;

Other OS” feature;
Whether Defendant knowingly transmitted Upld.21 with the specific intent of

disabling the “Other OS” feature;

California Civil Code sections 175&,seq. (“CLRA");

U.S.C. § 1030;

Whether Defendant’s conduct violat€dlifornia’s Unfair Competition Law,

California Business and Pexsions Code sections 17260seq. (“UCL");

Whether Defendant’s actions violatether common law and statutory duties;

ascertainable loss as a result of DefEnt’'s conduct as alleged herein;

The amount of relief to whictihe Class is entitled; and

Class is entitled.

Typicality. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical dhe claims of Class members becausq
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Defendant taking away advertised features efRI83, such as the “Other OS” feature, through
Update 3.21.
76.  Adequacy Plaintiffs will fairly and adequatelgrotect the interests of the Class §

has retained counsel competent and experiencedss action lawsuitsPlaintiffs have no

interests antagonistic to or iomlict with those of Class memizeand therefore will be adequate

as representatives for the Class.

77.  Superiority A class action is superior to otterailable methods for the fair and
efficient adjudication of this controversy sajoinder of all the members of the Class is
impracticable. Furthermore, the adjudicationha$ controversy through class action will avoid
the potentially inconsistent and cbeting adjudications of the claims asserted herein. There |
be no difficulty in the managemeot this action as a class action.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT |

Breach of Express Warranty

78.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference amhliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.

79. Defendant expressly warranted via its atigang, statements, brochures, websitg
information, public statements, owner’s manuals, @her representations thie functionality of
the PS3 would include both the “Other OS” and the various other advertised functions.
Specifically, Defendant disseminated informationhte general public, including Plaintiffs and t
Class, that the PS3 could be used as a pdrsomguter using the “Other OS” function. The
statements made by Defendant dfieraations of fact that became paf the basis of the bargair]

and created an express warranit tine goods would conform to teated promise. Plaintiffs

26

CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

\nd

vill




© 00 N o o b~ wWw N P

N N RN NN NN NDDNPRP B P P P P P PP e
© ~N o U0 A W N P O © 0 N O 0 M W N P O

placed importance on Defentd& representations.

80.  Upon application of the Update 3.21 and disabling of the “Gher OS” feature,
the PS3 no longer conformed to these exprgegesentations of Defendant. Defendant producs
and sold the PS3 based upon the representatiaht tias capable of performing both specified
gaming and “Other OS” functions. Defendant cotlgemaintains, by contrast, that the product
cannot perform all functions and the user nulstose between gaming on the PSN or the “Oth
OS” function. The inability of the PS3 to pen the PSN gaming and “Other OS” functions
promised by Defendant constitutes a breach of warranty.

81. As aresult of SCEA’s breach of the exggavarranty, Plaintiffs and the Class we
injured.

COUNT I

Breach of the Implied Warranty of Merchantability

82. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arehliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.

83. Defendant is a merchant as definedapplicable Uniform Commercial Code
(“U.C.C.") provisions and sold PS3 consoledlaintiffs and members of the Class.

84. Defendant impliedly warranted to Plaintitied members of the Class that the P
was merchantable and fit forggenal or business computing. Specifically, Defendant implied
warranted that the PS3 couldliae other operating systems ($uas Linux) and be used as
personal computer.

85.  Plaintiffs and the Class were in privity with Defendant as a result of Defendan
express written warranties, or by Defendant actingpimcert with other agés) servants, partners

aiders and abettors, co-conspiratansi/or joint venturers that wedirect sellers, such as sister
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company Sony Electronics, Inc. and Defant’s authorized retail stores.

86. As alleged herein, Defendant’'s Upd&t@1 breached the implied warranty of
merchantability because it eliminated the “Ot@&” feature and the ability use the PS3 as a
personal computer. In addition, without Updat21, Plaintiffs and the Class lose access to thd
PSN which includes playing online games and access to other online features. Defendant’s
have rendered the PS3 unmerchantahb unfit for its intended purpose.

87. Defendant’s conduct in eliminating thetl@r OS” functionality and failure to
adequately disclose to the Piaff and the Class that the Upgdea3.21 would eliminate the “Other
OS” feature, is a breach of SCEA'’s obligatiorgobd faith and fair dealing.

88. Defendant knew or should have knowattthe Update 3.21 had the aforesaid
properties and would render tR&3 unmerchantable and unfit fts intended use or purpose.

89. Defendant had reasonable and adequatiee of the Plaintiff and the Class
Members’ claims for breach of implied warraafymerchantability vidhe publicly available
consumer complaints predating therfiiof this pleading, and failed to cure.

90. As aresult of Defendant’s breachesroplied warranty, Plaintiff and members of
the Class have been injured and are entitlegjtotable/injunctive reliehnd/or damages in a

measure and amount which are to be determined at trial.

COUNT Il
Breach of the Implied Warranty of Fitness for a Particular Purpose
91. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference amhliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.
92. Defendant is a merchant as definedapplicable Uniform Commercial Code

(“U.C.C.") provisions and sold PS3 consoledlaintiffs and members of the Class.

93. Defendant impliedly warranted to Plaintitied members of the Class that the P
28
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fit for personal or business computing. Specifjcdefendant impliedly warranted that the PS3
could utilize other operating systems (such.iasix) and be used as personal computer.

94.  Plaintiffs and the Class were in privity with Defendant as a result of Defendan
express written warranties, or by Defendant actingpimcert with other agés) servants, partners
aiders and abettors, co-conspiratansl/or joint venturers that wedgect sellers, such as sister
company Sony Electronics, Inc. and Defevant’s authorized retail stores.

95. As alleged herein, Defendant’s Upd&t@1 breached the implied warranty of
fitness for particular purpose because it elimingted'Other OS” featureral the ability to use th

PS3 as a personal computer. In addition withdpdate 3.21, Plaintiffs and the Class lose acce

[

o
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to the PSN which includes playing online gamed access to other online features. Defendant’s

actions have rendered the PS3 unmerchéntaid unfit for its intended purpose.

96. Defendant’s conduct in eliminating thetl@r OS” functionality and failure to
adequately disclose to the Plaintiffs and @ass that Update 3.21 would eliminate the “Other
OS” feature, is a breach of Defendant’s obligatiogadd faith and fair dealing.

97. Defendant knew or should have knowattthe Update 3.21 had the aforesaid
properties and would render tR&3 unmerchantable and unfit fts intended use or purpose.

98. Defendant had reasonable and adeguetiee of the Plaintiffs and the Class
Members’ claims for breach of implied warraatymerchantability vidhe publicly available
consumer complaints predating therfiiof this pleading, and failed to cure.

99. As aresult of Defendant’s breaches oplimd warranty, Plaintiffs and members @
the Class have been injured and are entitlegjtotable/injunctive reliehnd/or damages in a

measure and amount which are to be determined at trial.
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COUNT IV

Violation of the California Consumers Legal Remedies Act

100. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arehliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.

101. Defendant is a “person,” as dedid by Cal. Civil Code § 1761(c).

102. Plaintiffs and the Class members are “consigyi within the meaning of Cal. Civi
Code § 1761(d).

103. The PS3is a “good,” within the meaning of Cal. Civil Code § 1761(a).

104. Each Plaintiffs’ purchase of the PS3 congéd a “transaction,” as that term is
defined in Cal. Civil Code § 1761(e).

105. Before purchasing the PS3, Plaintiéfach reviewed and relied on Defendant’s
affirmative representations abouetRS3'’s features and omissionsraterial facts, including tha
Defendant would disable the “Other OS” featuBefendant’s acts and omissions, as alleged
herein, violated the California Consumers Legamedies Act (“CLRA”) and Cal. Civ. Code §
1770(a)(5)’s proscription ainst representing that goods havesjsharacteristics, or benefits
they do not actually have; Cal. Civ. Code § 1aJ()’s proscription agast representing that
goods are of a particular standagdality, or grade when they are of another; and Cal. Civ. Co
1770(a)(9)’s proscription ainst advertising goods with an intenot to sell them as advertised.

106. Since the 2006 introduction of the PS3gfendant, it advertised, promoted,
marketed, warranted, and sold this system@ersonal computer. Thggactice continued up to
the release of the Update 3.21 whdisabled the “Other OS” featuand the ability to use the PS
as a personal computer.

107. Further, Defendant failed to adequateigclose, at the time of purchase, that it
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might disable the “Other OS” feature. Defendant fédded to adequately disclose that the Upd
3.21 would disable the “Other OS” feature whestatied on a PS3, or give consumers a viable
option of not installing the Update 3.21.

108. For those Class members who became awaiteeatrippling effect of the Update
3.21, and had the ability to choose whether or notdtall the update, Defenaaleft them without
much of a choice. If the PS3 is not updated, nwdrifie other promoted PS8atures are disable
such as: (1) the ability to sign into the PSNbay games online and use other online features;
playback of PS3 software titles or Blu-ray discatttequire version 3.21 tater; (3) playback of
the copyrighted protected videos that are stored media server; and (4) use of new features
improvements that are avala on version 3.21 or later.

109. The facts that Defendant had a duty to diselbut failed to disclose or adequatel
disclose, concealed, and/or misrepresentedaterial in that reasonable consumers would
consider them important in deandj whether or not to purchase (and/or pay the same price fo
PS3. Had Plaintiffs and the Class known thetendant was going to disable the “Other OS”
feature and thereby preclude the PS3’s use assana computer, they would not have purchag
the PS3 or would have paid less for it.

110. In failing to disclose this informatiomefendant has knowingly and intentionally
concealed material facts ahceached its duty not to do so.

111. Defendant knew that it might disable tt@ther OS” feature and that Update 3.2]
would cripple the PS3.

112. Defendant’'s concealment and deceptive firas, in violation of the CLRA, were
designed to and did inda Plaintiffs and the Class to purchase the PS3.

113. Defendant performed the acts herdlaged in connection with the design,
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marketing, advertising, warranty,@or sale of the PS3 with a knowledge and intent to defraud

and deceive Plaintiffs and the Class.

114. Defendant also violated Civil Codd770(19) by inserting one or more

unconscionable provisions into a contract. Defatidansertion of the following clauses into the

System Software License Agreem@ras unconscionable to the extédmit SCEA attempts to uss

this provision as a lsés upon which to remove core feads of the PS3s at issue:

e “Some services may change your current setticeysse a loss of datet content, or cause
some loss of functionality.”

e “SCE, at its sole discretion, may modify thente of this Agreement at any time, includin
any terms in the PS3TM system documentatiomanual, or at kp://www.scei.co.jp/ps3-
license/index.html. Please check back on this ikeeb®m time to time for changes to th
Agreement. Your continued access to or use of the System Software will signify you
acceptance of any changes to this Agreement.”

115. Defendant used its superibargaining strength to impose those terms upon
customers, and customers had no meaningful cdiegher to accept or rejethese provisions.
Thus, the System Software License Agreemed the product of oppression and the lack of
negotiation, not any meaningful cbei SCEA’s use of this provsi to justify itsremoval of the
“Other OS” feature would be similéo SCEA stating that it wagmoving the feature that allowe
consumers to play PS3 games on the PS3.

116. After entering into the contract for the pbase and sale of a PS3, Plaintiffs and
other Class members had no ability to negotiageSystem Software License Agreement’s ternj

which was only provided to them after they pasdd their PS3s, including the terms allowing

Defendant to remove functionswil, allowing it to unilaterally change the System Software

License Agreement at will and forcing customers to either accept any changes in the System

Software License Agreement or cease their use of their PS3.
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117. In addition, Defendant includethese provisions withingtsmall-type, prolix form;
disguised them under nebulous headingd;lauried them among sundry other unrelated
contractual terms.

118. These provisions are, accordipgbrocedurally unconscionable.

119. Inimposing these terms, Defendant sougluréate for itself an unlimited ability t
alter the System Software License Agreement and the functions of the PS3 as it saw fit ang
any consideration to Plaiffs or other Class members.

120. These provisions are one-sided and uroeakly favorable to Defendant. It
uniquely favors Defendant at the expense ofausts, and Defendant clgahid these terms in
its standard-form contract to gainfam advantage over its consumers.

121. These terms are, as outlined above, sulisty oppressive because they realloc
risk between consumers and Defendant in an objectively unreasonable and unexpected mg
permitting Defendant to change the Systeoftware License Agreement and the PS3
functionalities to protect its interests inngplete derogation of the rights of consumers.

122. Both procedurally and substantivellierefore, these provisions are unduly

oppressive and unconscionable.

123. Therefore, if Defendant asserts in thif@t a defense related to these provisions

by reason of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and otBéass members seek injunctive relief requiring
Defendant to cease enforcement of the foregoing unconscionable contract provisions.

124. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselvendall others similarly situated, demand
judgment against Defendant undeg tBLRA for injunctive relief, rstitution and/or disgorgemen
of funds paid to Defendant to purchase the P8&oa an injunction requimg Defendant to enabl

the “Other OS” feature of the BSfree of charge, and an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.
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125. Plaintiffs’ counsel put Defendant on noticatit was in violation of the Consume
Legal Remedies Act. Attached hereto as Extare true and correcbpies of demand letters

from Plaintiffs Ventura, Huber, and Herz. Aetiirty (30) day periotias expired and Defenda

s

failed to cure, Plaintiffs Ventura, Huber, and Heeek actual and statutory damages on behalf] of

themselves and the Class. Plaintiffs Stiosmed Baker will serve notice on Defendant and
therefore do not seek damages at this time, but will do so and amend the complaint as app
COUNT V

Violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, 18 U.S.C. 8 1036t seq.

126. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arehliege all paragraphs previously alleged

herein.
127. The PS3 is a “computer” within tmeeaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(1).

128. Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ PS3 comsoare used in interstate commerce or

communication, and are “protectedmputers” within the meaningf 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1030(e)(2)(B).

129. Defendant knowingly caused the transnuasdf software andhtentionally caused
damage without authorization Raintiffs’ and Class members’ P$8nsoles; and/or intentionall
accessed Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ PS3 ceasmithout authorization and recklessly caud
damage; and/or intentionally accessed Pligtind Class members’ PS3 consoles without
authorization and caused damage and loss. ndefd’s purpose was fwotect its intellectual

property although it informed Plaintiffs and €samembers that the purpose was for security

reasons.
130. Defendant knowingly caused the transnuasdf software codand intentionally
caused damage without Plaintifeithorization to Plaintiffs’ an@lass members’ PS3 consoles.
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Defendant knowingly and admittedly releasedibe 3.21 for the specific purpose of removing
the “Install Other OS” feature — adture that Defendant had advextiss part ofhe console and
for which Plaintiffs and Class members had paAd a result of this knowing transmission,

Defendant intentionally caused dageaby disabling the “Install @er OS” feature. The damage
was unauthorized because a failure to download té@i21 resulted in the loss of other feature
as described herein. FurthBrefendant’s statepurpose was for security reasons although in

reality it was to protectstintellectual property.

131. Defendant intentionally accessed Pldfastiand the Class’ PS3 systems and

transmitted software without authorizatiand recklessly caused damage.

132. Defendant intentionally accesd Plaintiffs and the Class’ PS3 systems without
authorization and caused damage and losthoigh Plaintiffs and Class members may have
authorized a firmware update for security reasomey did not authorize the disabling of the
“Install Other OS” feature. Defendant did mpoesent Plaintiffs and Class members with any
actual choice because either downloading Up8at& or not downloading the update would bot
result in disabling certain advertised featurBgfendant’s unauthorized access caused damag
Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ PS3 consoles@ndsed Plaintiffs and Class members to suffer
losses, including, but not limited to, the abilityeusther operating systems and the money paid
this feature. Plaintiffs’ and Class membearshsoles were reduced in value by Defendant’s
conduct because a gaming console that allowsridefe to remove and disable advertised and
material features is worth less than a ganaoigsole that does not@lv these unconsented-to

removals.
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133. Through Defendant’s intentional transmssif the software and the unauthorizg
access of Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ PS3esys, Defendant impaired the integrity of
Plaintiffs’ and other individual @ss members’ systems and remoaddature that Plaintiffs and
Class members had paid for. As a direct redfudingaging in such acts, Defendant caused darn

exceeding an aggregate of $5,00@atue during a one-year period.

COUNT VI

Violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 230%t seg.

134. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arehliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.

135. The Magnuson-Moss Warranty ActMagnuson-Moss”), 15 U.S.C.8§ 23 seq.,
provides a private right of action for purchasers of consunogiupts against manufacturers or
retailers whointer alia, fail to comply with the terms of a written or implied warranty. 15 U.S
§ 2310(d)(1). As demonstrated above, Defendamtdied to comply with the terms of its writtg
and implied warranties with reghto the sale of its PS3s.

136. Defendant’'s PS3s are “consumer products,” as that term is defined in § 2301

Magnuson-Moss.

137. Defendant is a “warrantords that term is defined §2301(5) of Magnuson-Mos$

138. Plaintiffs and each member of the Class“aosmsumers,” as that term is defined i
§ 2301(3) of Magnuson-Moss.

139. Defendant had reasonable and adequateenofiPlaintiffs’ and the Class’s claimg
of breach of Defendant’s express written and ingpharranties from the sale of its PS3s, and
given a reasonable opportunity taeuts failure to comply withthose warranties. However,
Defendant never cured. As a result of Defendaneach of its written and implied warranties
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through Magnuson-Moss, Plaintiffs and members efGlass have been imgd and are entitled t
equitable/injunctive relief and/or damages in@asure and amount to be determined at trial.
COUNT VII

Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17500et seq. (False Advertising)

140. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arehliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.

141. Defendant has engaged in false adviagisss it disseminated false and/or
misleading statements regarding the PS3.

142. Defendant knew or should have knownédxgrcising reasonable care that its

representations were false and/or misleadiBgginning in 2006 and continuing through sometime

around April 2010, Defendant engaged in false adwegtis violation of Ca Bus. & Prof. Code
88 17500¢t seq., by misrepresenting in its advertigi marketing, and other communications
disseminated to Plaintiffs, the Class, and thiesaming public that the PS3 was capable of beif
used as a personal computex the “Other OS” feature.

143. Beginning in or about 2006 and contingiup to April 2010, Defendant engaged
false advertising in violation of Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17%08eqg., by omitting, failing to
disclose, and/or concealing the material fact ithatuld disable the “Other OS” feature and that
intended to do so via Update 3.21. The Update @isdbled the ability of Plaintiff and the Clasy
to utilize the “Other OS” feature antilize the PS3 as a personal computer.

144. By disseminating and publishing these stat@smenconnection with the sale of its
goods, Defendant has engaged in and continues to engage in false advertising in violation
& Prof. Code 88 1750@t seq.

145. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, as set forth herein,
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Defendant has received ill-gotten gains angfofits, including, but not limited to money.

Therefore, Defendant has baamustly enriched. Pursuant@al. Bus. & Prof. Code 8§ 17535,

Plaintiffs and members of the &s request restitution and restitutionary engorgement for all sums

obtained in violation of CaBus. & Prof. Code 8§88 17508 seq.

146. Plaintiffs and the Class seek injunetirelief, restitution, and restitutionary
disgorgement of Defendant’s dletten gains as specifically provaien Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17535.

147. Plaintiffs and the Class seek to enjBiafendant from engaging in these wrongful
practices, as alleged herein, ie tiluture, including but not limitet disabling other features of
the PS3. There is no adequate remedy at law amdiifjunction is not ordered, Plaintiffs and the
Class will suffer irreparable harm and/or injury.

COUNT VI

Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17200t seq. (Unfair Competition)

148. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arahliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.
149. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 prohibits aatSunfair competition.” As used in

this section, “unfair competdn” encompasses three distinct types of misconduct: (a) “any

unlawful . . . business act or practice;” (b) “any . . . unfair or fraudulent business act or practice;”

and (c) “any . . . unfair, deceptivntrue or misleading advertising.”

150. Defendant knew or should have knowndxgrcising reasonable care that its
representations were false and/or misleadiBgginning in 2006 and continuing through sometime
around April 2010, Defendant engaged in practices which violate Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§

17200,et seg., by misrepresenting in its adventigi marketing, and other communications
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disseminated to Plaintiffs, the Class, and thiesaming public that the PS3 was capable of being

used as a personal computex the “Other OS” feature.

151. Beginning in or about 2006 and d¢oming through sometime around April 2010,
Defendant engaged in practices whigolate Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17208 seg. by omitting,
failing to disclose or adequately disclose, andforcealing the material fact that it could disablg
the PS3’s advertised features, including the “O@®8t feature, and that it intended to do so via
Update 3.21. Update 3.21 disabled the ability ofrfifés and the Class tatilize the “Other OS”
feature and utilize the PS3 apersonal computer.

152. Defendant disseminated unfair, deceptivetrue, and/or misleling advertising in
violation of the Unfair Competitiohaw, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17208 seq., when it
misrepresented, failed to disclose, and/or concahketiue defective nature of the PS3 in its
advertising, marketing, and other bdbadisseminated representations.

153. Defendant’s above-described conduct isawfll because it cotitutes a breach of
express warranty, breach of implied warranteesiversion, and unjust enrichment. Defendant’
conduct is further unlawful because it violaties Consumers Legal Remedies Act (Cal. Civ. C

88 1750t seq.), the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. 88 2804eq.), the Computer

Fraud and Abuse Act (18 U.S.C. § 1030), andialse Advertising Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code

8§ 17500t seq.).

154. Defendant’s above-described conduct const#ttiunfair” business practices withi
the meaning of the Unfair Competition Law insofar as the justification for Defendant’s cond\
outweighed by the gravity of the consequencd3laintiffs and Class members and Defendant’
conduct is immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscruputossibstantially injurious to consumers.

Defendant’s conduct is further unfair because itates the legislative policies and spirit of the
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laws discussed in Paragraph 1&%ra.

155. Defendant’s above-described conduct titutes “fraudulent’business practices
within the meaning of the Unfair Competition Law insofar as SCEA's business practices alle
herein are likely to dece2 members of the public.

156. These above-described unlawful, unfair &radidulent business practices and fal
and misleading advertising by Defendant presemraoing threat to Plaiiffs and the Class.
Plaintiffs are informed and believe and tlerallege that Defendant has systematically
perpetrated deceptive and unfair practices upembers of the public and has intentionally
deceived Plaintiffs and the Class.

157. In addition, the use of media to promote Hale of PS3 through false and decept
representations constitutes unfair competition and unfair, deceptive, untrue, or misleading
advertising within the meaning of the Unfair Competition Law.

158. As a direct and proximate result of Dedant’s violation of the Unfair Competitiol
Law, Plaintiffs and the Class members have suffergiry in fact and lost money and property.
They would not have purchased or would have fesd for the PS3 if Plaiiffs and the Class had
known that Defendant reserved tinght to disable or remove advertised features of the PS3,
including the “Other OS” feature, and thatf®edant would, in fact, disable the “Other OS”
feature.

159. As a direct and proximate result of Dediant’s violation of the Unfair Competitiol
Law, Plaintiffs and the Class members have suffergiry in fact and Ist money and property in
that they purchased a PS3 that no longer wagka personal computer or no longer has the
advertised features, and have incurred or will lpgired to incur costs teplace or repair their

PS3 with a personal computer.
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160. As a direct and proximate result of Defentlaviolation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code

88 17200¢t seq., Defendant has been unjustly enrichethatexpense of Plaintiffs and the Clas
and should be required to make restitutioRl@intiffs and the Class members or make
restitutionary disgorgement @$ ill-gotten profits pursuant tGal. Bus. & Prof. Code 8§ 17203.

161. The refusal to reverse Update 3.21 andhineat of future modifications to the
specifications as represented, advertised, and disseminated to the class constitute ongoing
violations of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 172@0seq., and justify an issuance of an injunction
requiring Defendant to act in accordance withl#ve All remedies are cumulative pursuant to
Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17205.

162. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselveadall others similarly situated, demand

judgment against Defendant for injunctive reliethe form of restitutionand/or restitutionary

disgorgement, and/or injunctive relief in therfoof enabling the “Other OS” function of the PS3

and an award of attorneys’ fees.
163. Plaintiffs and the Class seek to enjBiafendant from engaging in these wrongful
practices as alleged hereintive future. There is no othereagliate remedy at law and if an
injunction is not ordered, Plaintiffs and thea€$ will suffer irreparable harm and/or injury.
COUNT IX
Conversion
164. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arahliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.
165. By purchasing a PS3, Plaintiffs and each member of the Class became owne
their PS3 and all of their PS3's features. Thios PS3's features, including the “Other OS”

feature, which was designed, marketed, and butib-the PS3, were Plaintiffs’ and the Class’s
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property.

166. By releasing Update 3.21 and therebyoeing the PS3's advertised features,
including the “Other OS” feature, Defendant mtienally and wrongfullyexercised control over,
took, damaged, and/or interfered witlaintiffs and the Class’s property.

167. Plaintiffs are informed and believand thereon allege that Defendant’s
aforementioned wrongful acts wesdIful and malicious in that Defendant intended to wrongfu
exercise control over, take, dagea and/or interfere with Plaintiffs’ and the Class’s property.

168. As a direct and proximate result of Defant’s conversion of Plaintiffs’ and the
Class’s property, Plaintiffs and each membeahefClass have been injured and have suffered

damages in a measure and amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT X
Unjust Enrichment
169. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference arahliege all paragraphs previously alleged
herein.
170. Plaintiffs and the Class have confertahefits on Defendant by paying value for
the “Other OS” function, as well d@ise other advertised functioribat they reasonably expected

Defendant to support for the life of the PS3s theschased. In purchasing the PS3, Plaintiffs
each member of the Class paid for the abilityge the “Install Other OS&ature, the ability to
Blu-ray discs, and the ability to access the P&MNnline gaming and network features. By
issuing Update 3.21, regardless of whether a deenloads the software, he or she will lose
complete functionality of his or h€S3 console as it was advertised.

171. Defendant knowingly and willingly acceptedmetary benefits from Plaintiffs ang

the Class, but Defendant did not honor its obilayet. Rather, Defendant benefited from the sa|
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of PS3s with the “Other OS” function which it thimced purchasers tatker disable or forgo
other important PS3 functions.

172. Under the circumstances described hereis,iitequitable for Defendant to retain
the full monetary benefit at the expesof Plaintiffs and the Class.

173. By engaging in the conduct describdxbae, Defendant has been unjustly enrich
at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Classiamdquired, in equitand good conscience, to
compensate Plaintiffs and the Class famiguffered as a result of its actions.

174. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unjust enrichment, Plaintiffs a
the Class have suffered injury and are entitlecimbursement, resttion, and disgorgement by

Defendant of the benefit confedrby Plaintiffs and the Class.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, request that the G
enter judgment against Defendant, as follows:
A. An order certifying the proposed Class, designating Plaintiffs as the named

representatives of the Class, and gleaiing the undersigned as Class Counsel,

B. An order enjoining Defendant from further deceptive advertising, marketing,
distribution, and sales practiceghwrespect to the PS3 and taable the “Other OS” feature on
the PSS3;

C. An award to Plaintiffs and the Classafmpensatory, consequential, punitive an

statutory damages, including interest #mar, in an amount to be proven at trial;
D. An order requiring the restitution and restitmary disgorgement to the Class of

profits unlawfully obtained by Defendant;
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E. An award of attorneys’ fees and costs, as allowed by law;

F. An award of pre-judgment and post-judgrheterest, as provided by law;
G. For leave to amend the Complaint to confdp the evidence produced at trial; af
H. Such other or further relief as mhg appropriate under the circumstances.

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and al@ts similarly situated, demand a trial by jury

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

of any and all issues in this action so triable.

Dated: July 30, 2010

Dated: July 30, 2010

Dated: July 30, 2010

CALVO & CLARK, LLP

/s/ James A. Quadra

JamedA. Quadra

RebeccaColl

One Lombard Street

San Francisco, California 94111
Telephone: 415-374-8370
Facsimile: 415-374-8373

FINKELSTEIN THOMPSON LLP

/s/ Rosemary M. Rivas

Rosemary M. Rivas

TracyTien

100 Bush Street, Suite 1450
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone415-398-8700
Facsimile:415-398-8704

HAUSFELD LLP

/s/ James Pizzirusso

James Pizziruss®Xo hac vice)
1700 K St., NW, Suite 650

Washington, DC 20006
Telephone: 202-540-7200
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Facsimile:202-540-7201
Co-Interim Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs

Douglas G. Thompson
FINKELSTEIN THOMPSON LLP
1050 30th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20007
Telephone202-337-8000
Facsimile:202-337-8090

MichaelP.Lehmann

HAUSFELD LLP

44 Montgomery Street, Suite 3400
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone415-633-1908
Facsimile:415-358-4980

Bruce L. Simon

PEARSON, SIMON, WARSHAW &
PENNY, LLP

44 Montgomery Street, Suite 2450
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone415-433-9000
Facsimile:415-433-9008

Daniel L. Warshaw

PEARSON, SIMON, WARSHAW &
PENNY, LLP

15165 Ventura Boulevard, Suite 400
Sherman Oaks, California 91403
Telephone818-788-8300
Facsimile:818-788-8104

Joseph G. Sauder

Matthew D. Schelkopf
Benjamin F. John${o hac vice)
CHIMICLES & TIKELIS LLP
361 W. Lancaster Ave.
Haverford, Pennsylvania 19041
Telephone: 610-642-8500
Facsimile: 610-649-3633
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Ralph B. Kalfayan

KRAUSE, KALFAYAN, BENINK & SLAVENS,
LLP

625 Broadway, Suite 635

San Diego, California 92101

Telephone: 619-232-0331
Facsimile:619-232-4019

Jeffrey CartonRro hac vice)

D. Greg BlankinshipRro hac vice)

MEISELMAN, DENLEA, PACKMAN, CARTON
& EBERZ P.C.

1311 Mamaroneck Avenue

White Plains, New York 10605
Telephone914-517-5000
Facsimile:914-517-5055

John R. FabryRro hac vice)

WILLIAMS KHERKHER HART BOUNDAS,
LLP

8441 Gulf Freeway, Suite 600

Houston, Texas 77017

Telephone: 713-230-2200

Facsimile: 713-643-6226

Rosemary Farrales Luzon

SHEPHERD, FINKELMAN, MILLER & SHAH,
LLP

401 West A. Street, Suite 2350

San Diego, California 92101

Telephone: 619-235-2416

Facsimile: 619-234-7334

Counsel for Plaintiffs

I, Rosemary M. Rivas, am the ECF user wh@sand password are being used to file th
CONSOLIDATED CLASS ACTIONCOMPLAINT. In compliancevith General Order 45, X.B.

| hereby attest that James A. Quadra and J&megusso have concurred in this filing.
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AFFIDAVIT OF TRACY TIEN

I, Tracy Tien, declare as follows:

1. I am an associate with the law firm Finkelstein Thompson LLP, one of the
firms appointed as Co-Interim Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs in this consolidated action. I am
admitted to practice law in California and before this Court, and am a member in good standing
of the State Bar of California. This declaration is made pursuant to California Civil Code section
1780(c). I make this declaration based on my law firm’s research of public records and also
upon personal knowledge and, if called upon to do so, could and would testify competently
thereto.

2. Public records indicate that Defendant’s principal place of business is within
this District, as alleged in the accompanying Consolidated Class Action Complaint.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States on this 30th day of

July 2010 in San Francisco, California that the foregoing is t corrgct.

TRACY TIEN VY ~~—7

State of California -

County of én: Zf@uaéza

Subscribed and sworn tg (or affirmed)
. before me on thiscXD7day of <7 celty

20/0 vy 7EGoy Tieyn 7

proved to me on the‘basis of satisfactory

evidence to be the persog(s}who

appeared béfore % ~
Signature’ — '

" MARLYN ANO =
A COMM. # 1840288 Q)
215 NOTARY PUBLIC - CALIFORNIA

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY =
My Commission Expires March 21, 2013 k
TNV VY Y VY VYTV TN
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MEISELMAN, DENLEA, PACKMAN,
CARTON & EBerz P.C.

Attorneys at Law

131 MAMARONECK AVENUE, WHITE PLAINS, NY 10605
TEL: (914)517-5000 | FAX: (814)517-5055

April 29, 2010

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUIRED

Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc.
919 East Hillsdale Boulevard
Foster City, CA 94404-4249

Re:  Ventura v. Sony Corporation of Amen‘ca; Inc.

Dear Sir or Madam:

This office represents Anthony Ventura, on behalf of himself and all those
similarly situated, in the matter of Ventura v. Sony Computer Entertainment America,
Inc. This letter constitutes a notification to you pursuant to California Civil Code §
1782. “

As set forth in detail in the enclosed Complaint, Sony Computer Entertainment
America, Inc. (*Sony”) has violated, and continues to violate California Civil Code §
1770. »

Background

The Sony Playstation®3 video game console (the “PS3"), which competes with
Microsoft's Xbox 360 and Nintendo's Wii as part of the newest generation of video
game consoles, was released in the United States with great fanfare on November 17,
2006.

At the time of its launch, the PS3 was the most expensive gaming console
available, retailing for $5699.00 in part because it is capable of far more than merely
playing games at home. With the growing homogenization of consumer technology
and increased competition, Sony looked to market the additional features available in -
the PS3, such as the “Other OS" feature and the inclusion of Blu-ray technology, to
distinguish its product from the others.



MEISELMAN, DENLEA, PACKMAN,
CARTON & EBERZ P.C.

Ventura v. Sony Computer Entertainment America
April 29, 2010

In fact, Sony’s marketing and advertising of the PS3 highlighted the major
features that distinguish the PS3 from other gaming consoles, including its unified
online gaming service, the PlayStation Network, its robust multimedia capabilities, its
use of a high-definition optical Blu-ray Disc as its primary storage medlum and the Blu-
ray 2.0-compliant Blu-ray player.

An important PS3 feature Sony advertised was the Other OS function, which
provides users with the unique ability to install another operating system, such as a
Linux operating system, alongside the main PS3 system software.

Until recently, Sony promoted the Other OS feature in its marketing of the PS3.
Indeed, Sony stated on its website “playstation.com” that when it designed the PS3, "it
was fully intended that you, a PS3 owner, could play games, watch movies, view
photos, listen to music, and run a full-featured Linux operating system that transforms
your PS3 into a home computer.”

Sony used a marketing strategy that persuaded consumers that the PS3 could
be used as a home personal computer with a direct connection to the Internet, while
retaining its other gaming and multimedia features.

On March 28, 2010, Sony announced that it would no longer honor its obligation
to support the Other OS feature. On its playstation.com website, Sony announced that
it would release software updated 3.21 ("Update 3.21"), which would disable the Other
OS feature. PS3 owners are not technically required to install Update 3.21. However,
Sony has built a vast and sticky web of restrictions that will prevent users from
accessing many of the PS3's other features for anyone who declines the "upgrade.” In
particular, for users who do not install firmware 3.21:

It will be impossible for users to access the Playstation Network;

It will be impossible to play PS3 games online;

it will be impossible to play new PS3 games;

It will be impossible to watch new Blu-ray videos;

New Blu-ray discs could disable the Blu-ray drive entirely if they contain
an AACS Host Revocation List that affects the old software version; and

. Videos on DTCP-IP media servers will be disabled.

* L L] . °

, By forcing users to choose between these features, collectively referred to as
“Other Advertised Features,” and the Other OS feature, Sony is -effectively
downgrading PS3s already sold and in the hands of consumers — when consumers
purchased the console, the console could play games, play Blu-ray discs, and run
Linux. After April 1, it is an inferior product.



MEISELMAN, DENLEA, PACKMAN, .
CARTON & EBErRZ P.C.

Ventura v. Sony Computer Entertainment America
April 29, 2010

Provisions of Consumer Legal Remédies Act Violated

In representing that the product would carry the foregoing features, including the
Other OS feature and the Other Advertised Features, and failing to advise consumers
such features would be removed, Sony violated California's Consumer Legal
Remedies Act.

Specifically, Sony represented that the PS3 had characteristics, uses, or
benefits which it did not have in violation of Civil Code § 1770(5) when it represented
that the PS3 would have both the Other OS feature and the Other Advertised Features,
while simultaneously omitting the material fact that users would be forced to choose
between them. :

To the extent Sony claims its licensing agreement is enforceable, Sony élso
violated Civil Code §1770(19) by inserting one or more unconsclonable provisions into
the licensing agreement, including the following clauses

. “Some services may change your current settings, cause a loss of data or
content, or cause some loss of functionality.”

. “SCE, at its sole discretion, may modify the terms of this Agreement at
any time, including any terms in the PS3TM system documentation or
manual, or at http://www.scei.co.jp/ps3-licensef/index.html. Please check
back on this website from time to time for changes to this Agreement.
Your continued access to or use of the System Software will sngmfy your
acceptance of any changes to this Agreement.”

Request That Sony Remedy its Wrongful Conduct

Plaintiff Anthony Ventura, on behalf of himself and all those similarly situated,
demands that Sony rectify the foregoing violations by (1) making the Other OS feature,
together with the Other Advertised Features, available to all purchasers of the PS3
and/or arranging for a refund of all or part of the purchase price of the product to all
owners of the PS3 system, and (2) removing the above-identified unconscionable
provisions from PS3 license agreements, and agreemg not to seek the enforcement of
these provisions under any circumstances.



MEISELMAN, DENLEA, PACKMAN,
CARTON & EBERZ P.C.

Ventura v. Sony Computer Entertainment America
April 29, 2010

Please prbVide a response within thirty days.
Very truly yours,
MEISELMAN, DENLEA, PACKMAN,
CARION & EBERZ P.C.

ecca Coll
(914) 517-5025
rcoli@mdpcelaw.com

RC/bls
00229685.doc



200k amsu 0oo0 2521 1758

T g,

Roturn Receipt Fee
(Endorsement Aequirad)

Restricted Delivery Fee
(Endorsement Reqguired)

Cortified Fee

Total Postage & Fees

Sent To

St tNW et A
orrgg,;g{. oo' Icf_fﬂdz/ H\Z&J@M %CI/

Ciy Giate, z:mpi nls, . CA Guiton LTS




202.540.7200 ph

; (i Y e 202.540.7201 fax
HAUSFELDzir .
. Suite 650
P Wargn 0 208

James Pizzirusso
jpizzirusso@hausfeldllp.com

May 21, 2010
FOR SETTLEMENT PURPOSES ONLY

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Sony Computer Entertainment of America, LLC
Office of General Counsel

919 East Hillsdale Blvd.

Foster City, CA 94404

Re: Playstation 3 - Removal of "Other OS" function - Notice of Breach and Opportunity
to Cure

To Whom It May Concern:

My firm, Hausfeld LLP, along with Pearson, Simon, Warshaw & Penny, LLP, represent
Jonathan Huber of Knoxville, Tennessee, with regard to the PlayStation 3 (“PS3”) that he
purchased from Wal-Mart in December 2007 for $599 plus tax. The PS3 was advertised,
promoted, marketed, warranted and sold as containing an “Other OS” function that allowed users
to install Linux and utilize the PS3 as a computer. This was a key feature distinguishing this
product from competitors such as the Nintendo Wii and X-Box 360. Our client purchased his
PS3, in part, for this reason and installed Linux on his system. SCEA’s most recent firmware
update, which our client installed in order to be able to continue playing games online, removed
this important feature.

Our research and investigation have led us to the conclusion that there are numerous
other PS3 customers who are also experiencing this same problem. Given that this issue has not
been resolved, please be advised that we are filing a nationwide class action complaint on behalf
of similar PS3 purchasers. We are bringing claims for breach of express and implied warranty;
violations of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act; Violations of Cal. Bus. and Prof. Code, §§
17200 and 17500; Violations of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750; and
conversion.

Pursuant to the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), California Civil
Code §§ 1750, et seq. (specifically, §§ 1782(a)(1) and (2)), Jonathan Huber, on behalf of himself
and all other similarly situated consumers nationwide (collectively, the “Class™), through their
undersigned counsel, hereby notify you that Sony Computer Entertainment of America, LLC

www.hausfaldllp.com WASHINGTON, D.C. / NEW YORK /! PHILADELPHIA / SAN PRANCISCO / LONDON
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Sony Computer Entertainment of America, LLC

5/21/2010

Page 2

(“SCEA”) is alleged to have violated the CLRA by warranting, marketing, advertising, and
promoting PS3s with the intent not to sell them as advertised.

SCEA’s misrepresentations in warranting, marketing, advertising, promoting, and selling
PS3s constitute the following violations of the CLRA:

1. SCEA has represented that its goods have characteristics, uses or benefits that they do not
have (§ 1770(a)(5));

2. SCEA has falsely represented that its goods are of a particular standard, quality or grade
when they are of another (§ 1770(a)(7)); and

3. SCEA has advertised its goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised (§
1770(a)(9)).

Pursuant to Section 1782 of the CLRA, and based on the foregoing, we hereby demand
that within thirty (30) days of receiving this letter, SCEA agree to refund our client his entire
purchase price, or, at the very least, provide our client with a firmware update that would allow
him to maintain his use of the “Other OS> function, as well as all of the other advertised features
of the PS3 (including online gaming). Our client further requests that SCEA provide a corrective
advertising and notice campaign and pay all related attorneys’ fees and costs.

If you have any questions, please contact my office. Ilook forward to hearing from you
soon.

Sincerely,

S/
James Pizzirusso

www.hausfalillp.com WASHINGTON, D.C. / NEW YORK / PHILADELPHIA / S8AN FRANCISCO / LORNDON
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FINKELSTEIN
THOMPSON .

June 14, 2010

Reply to San Francisco, California
Writer’s Direct E-mail: ttien@finkelsteinthompson.com

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL

Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc.
919 East Hillsdale Boulevard
Foster City CA, 94404

Re:  Todd Densmore et. al. v. Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc. CV-10-1945 RS
United States District Court, Northern District of California

To Whom It May Concern:

On behalf of Plaintiffs Todd Densmore and Antal Herz and all others similarly situated, this letter
is to notify Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc. (“Sony”) that it has violated the California
Consumers Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”) by employing or committing methods, acts, or practices
declared unlawful by California Civil Code section 1770 as alleged in the complaint enclosed with this
letter. See Cal. Civ. Code § 1782(a) and (b). Pursuant to California Civil Code section 1782(d), Plaintiffs
Densmore and Herz have initiated an action in the United States District Court, Northern District of
California for injunctive relief against Sony. Under the CLRA, Sony may provide an appropriate remedy
or agree to provide an appropriate remedy within a reasonable time, within thirty (30) days after receipt of
this notice. If Sony does not provide or agree to provide an appropriate remedy within 30 days after
receipt of this notice, Plaintiffs Densmore and Herz will amend their complaint to include a request for
damages. '

The unlawful acts committed by Sony, in violation of the CLRA, include removing the “Install
Other OS” function through dissemination of software update, Firmware 3.21 on April 1, 2010; failing to
adequately disclose before the point of sale that Sony would remove the “Install Other OS,” a function
advertised by Sony and paid for by Plaintiffs and Class members; and requiring users to install Firmware
3.21 and lose the “Install Other OS” function or lose other advertised functions (such as the ability to
ability to play Blu-ray discs and the ability to play games online).

Sony’s actions violate California Civil Code sections 1770(a)(5), 1770(a)(7), and 1770(a)(9),
which prohibit representing that goods or services have characteristics, uses, benefits or quantities which
they do not have; representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or grade when
they are another; and advertising goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised. As a direct and

1050 30w Street, NW - WasHINGTON, DC 20007 - PHone: 202.337.8000 - Fax: 202.337.8090 - TowFree: 877.337.1050

100 BusH STREET * Suite 1450 - SaN Francisco, CA 94104 - PHONE: 415.398.8700 - Fax: 415.398.8704 - Touw-Free: 877.800.1450

WwWW.FINKELSTEINTHOMPSON.COM



proximate result of Sony’s violations of the CLRA, Plaintiffs Densmore and Herz and members of the
proposed Class have suffered damages.

Pursuant to California Civil Code section 1782(b), Sony may, within thirty (30) days after receipt
of this letter, avoid a potential action for damages under the CLRA by agreeing to correct, repair and
rectify its unlawful acts by: (1) providing all members of the proposed Class as defined in Paragraph 33 of
the Complaint with notice of this action and the name of the attorneys for Plaintiffs Densmore and Herz;
(2) restoring Plaintiffs’ and Class members’ PS3 consoles with the “Install Other OS” function; and (3)
terminating its practice of requiring users to download firmware updates that remove paid-for and
advertised functions. ‘

Enclosure:  Class Action Complaint

CC:

Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc.
989 East Hillsdale Boulevard

Foster City CA, 94404

Sony Computer Entertainment America, Inc.
950 Tower Lane
Foster City CA, 94404
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